

Working with perpetrators

A selected bibliography

Prepared by the New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse, University of Auckland.

First published March 2013

This bibliography was last updated April 2016

Disclaimer: The New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse (the Clearinghouse) strives to make the information in this document as timely and accurate as possible. However the Clearinghouse makes no claims as to the completeness or accuracy of the contents and disclaims liability for any errors or omissions. Provision of the information should not be taken as endorsement of any kind. The Clearinghouse is not responsible for the contents or reliability of any linked documents.

Contents

ntroduction3
Key readings4
Overviews4
Reviews and meta-analyses5
nterventions – evaluations, strategies and issues ϵ
New Zealand6
General population6
Tangata whenua8
Pasifika
Ethnic minority communities8
International8
Resources
Standards, manuals and policy documents13
Australia13
Websites14
New Zealand14
International14
Contact Information15

Introduction

This selected bibliography has been produced by the New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse to provide a guide to research literature on working with perpetrators of intimate partner violence. References are arranged chronologically, most recent first, within the sections. The key readings, overviews and reviews/meta-analysis address the question: "Do perpetrator programmes work?" The main section presents New Zealand and international research covering topics such as engagement, evaluation, retention, recidivism, outcomes and typologies. The New Zealand section includes all research we are aware of within the scope of this bibliography. The international literature is drawn from a range of sources and should be seen as a sample and starting point for the wealth of reading available on this topic. The strength of evaluation studies has not been ascertained. Readers are urged to read the meta-analyses for guidance on the most robust studies. A brief list of resources, including websites, completes the bibliography.

This selected bibliography focuses on interventions related to perpetrators. It does not cover primary prevention, or issues relating to court or Police practices (e.g. protection orders), except where these are covered as part of more comprehensive reviews. The main focus of the literature is on male perpetrators, as intimate partner violence is predominantly perpetrated by men and as there is limited literature on perpetrator programmes for female perpetrators of intimate partner violence.

Most of the report literature is readily available on the internet or from the New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse. Permanent links to journal article abstracts are provided.

How to access items: Use the "Available from the library" link to access the library record for items available online, or available for loan from the library (indicated by the location code). "Available online" links go directly to an online document (links may change – please contact the Clearinghouse if you encounter a broken link). To obtain items without an "Available from the Library" link, and journal articles, not freely available online, use the interlibrary loan service available from your local library.

Key readings

- Mackay, E., Gibson, A., Lam, H., & Beecham, D. (2015). *Perpetrator interventions in Australia: Key findings and future directions* (ANROWS Compass, 2015, Issue PP01). Sydney, NSW: ANROWS. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Centre for Innovative Justice. (2015). *Opportunities for early intervention: Bringing perpetrators of family violence into view*. Melbourne, Vic.: RMIT, Centre for Innovative Justice. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2015). *Domestic violence perpetrator programmes: Steps towards change*. London Metropolitan University & Durham, University. <u>Available from the library</u>

Overviews

- Royal Commission into Family Violence. (2016). *Report and recommendations*. Melbourne, Vic.: Royal Commission into Family Violence. <u>Available from the library</u> *See Volume III, chapter 18: Perpetrators*
- Fleming, P. J., Gruskin, S., Rojo, F., & Dworkin, S. L. (2015). Men's violence against women and men are inter-related: Recommendations for simultaneous intervention. Social Science & Medicine, 146, 249-256. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.021
- Vlais, R. (2014). Ten challenges and opportunities for domestic violence perpetrator program work. Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal, Spring 2014, 86-136. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Phillips, R., Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2013). *Domestic violence perpetrator programmes: An historical overview*. London Metropolitan University & Durham University. <u>Available from the</u> <u>library</u>
- Edleson, J. L. (2012, February). *Groupwork with men who batter: What the research literature indicates.* Harrisburg, PA: VAWnet, a project of the National Resource Center on Domestic Violence. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Guedes, A. (2012). **Perpetrators of violence/batterers**. In *Men and boys knowledge module* (pp.131-146). UNIFEM / MenEngage. <u>Available online</u>
- Salter, M. (2012). *Managing recidivism among high risk violent men* (Issues paper 23). Sydney, NSW: Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Westmarland, N., Kelly, L., & Chalder-Mills, J. (2010). *Domestic violence perpetrator programmes: What counts as success?* London, England: Respect. <u>Available from the library</u>

Reviews and meta-analyses

- Mackay, E., Gibson, A., Lam, H., & Beecham, D. (2015). *Perpetrator interventions in Australia: Part one - literature review: State of knowledge paper* (ANROWS Landscapes, PP01, part 1). Sydney, NSW: ANROWS. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Mackay, E., Gibson, A., Lam, H., & Beecham, D. (2015). *Perpetrator interventions in Australia: Part two – perpetrator pathways and mapping: State of knowledge paper* (ANROWS Landscapes, PP01, part 2). Sydney, NSW: ANROWS. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Hester, M., Lilley, S-J., O'Prey, L., & Budde, J. (2014). *Overview and analysis of research studies evaluating European perpetrator programmes.* Working paper 2 from the Daphne III project "IMPACT: Evaluation of European Perpetrator Programmes". <u>Available online</u>
- Akoensi, T. D., Koehler, J. A., Losel, F., & Humphreys, D. K. (2013). Domestic violence perpetrator programs in Europe, Part II: A systematic review of the state of evidence. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 57(10), 1206-1225. doi: 10.1177/0306624X12468110
- Eckhardt, C. I., Murphy, C. M., Whitaker, D. J., Sprunger, J., Dykstra, R., & Woodard, K. (2013). The effectiveness of intervention programs for perpetrators and victims of intimate partner violence. *Partner Abuse*, 4(2), 196-231. Doi: 10.1891/1946-6560.4.2.196
- Hamilton, L., Koehler, J. A., & Losel, F. A. (2013). Domestic violence perpetrator programs in Europe, Part I: A survey of current practice. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 57(10), 1189-1205. doi: <u>10.1177/0306624X12469506</u>
- Slabber, M. (2012). *Community-based domestic violence interventions: A literature review*. Wellington, New Zealand: Department of Corrections. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Urbis. (2012?). *Literature review on domestic violence perpetrators*. Sydney, NSW: Urbis. Available online
- Olver, M. E., Stockdale, K. C., & Wormith, J. S. (2011). A meta-analysis of predictors of offender treatment attrition and its relationship to recidivism. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79(1), 6-21. doi: 10.1037/a0022200
- Smedslund, G., Dalsbø, T. K., Steiro, A., Winsvold, A., & Clench-Aas, J. (2011). Cognitive behavioural therapy for men who physically abuse their female partner [Review]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 2. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006048.pub2
- Jewell, L. M., & Wormith, J. S. (2010). Variables associated with attrition from domestic violence treatment programs targeting male batterers: A meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(10), 1086-1113. doi: 10.1177/0093854810376815
- Murphy, C. M., Ting, L. A. (2010). Interventions for perpetrators of intimate partner violence: A review of efficacy research and recent trends. *Partner Abuse*, 1(1); 26-44. doi: <u>10.1891/1946-6560.1.1.26</u>

- Day, A., Chung, D., O'Leary, P., & Carson, E. (2009). Programs for men who perpetrate domestic violence: An examination of the issues underlying the effectiveness of intervention programs. *Journal of Family Violence*, 24(3), 203-212. doi: 10.1007/s10896-008-9221-4
- Feder, L., & Wilson, D. B. (2005). A meta-analytic review of court-mandated batterer intervention programs: Can courts affect abusers' behavior? *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 1(2), 239-262. doi: <u>10.1007/s11292-005-1179-0</u>
- Babcock, J. C., Green, C. E., & Robie, C. (2004). Does batterers' treatment work? A meta-analytic review of domestic violence treatment. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *23*, 1023-1053. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2002.07.001
- Gondolf, E. W. (2004). **Evaluating batterer counseling programs.** *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *9*(6), 605-631. doi: <u>10.1016/j.avb.2003.06.001</u>
- Bennett, L., & Williams, O. (2001). Controversies and recent studies of batterer intervention program effectiveness. Harrisburg, PA: VAWnet, a project of the National Resource Center on Domestic Violence. Available online

Interventions – evaluations, strategies and issues

New Zealand

General population

- Campbell, L. (2014). *ReachOut Men's Community Outreach Service: Connections and conversations with a purpose. An evaluation of the pilot*. Christchurch, New Zealand: Aviva Family Violence Services. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Carswell, S., o-Hinerangi, M., & Gray, C. (2014). *Formative evaluation of the Christchurch Metro Police Safety Order Project*. Christchurch, New Zealand: Te Awatea Violence Research Centre, University of Canterbury. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Mitchell, D., & Chapman, P. (2014). *Men at work: Men's views on a stopping violence service*. Nelson, New Zealand: SVS - Living Safe Public Health, Nelson, Malborough District Health Board & Bachelor of Nursing Programme, Nelson Marlborough Institute of Technology. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Roguski, M. (2014). *Stopping violence: Perpetrators' voices. Summary of former perpetrators of family violence narratives of change*. Auckland, New Zealand: The Glenn Inquiry. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Cagney, M., & McMaster, K. (2013). **Men's intervention programs.** *DVRCV Advocate*, Autumn / Winter 2013, Edition 1, 13-17. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Denne, S., Coombes, L., & Morgan, M. (2013). Problematising effectiveness: The inclusion of victim advocacy services in living without violence programmes provision and evaluation. *Refereed Proceedings of Doing Psychology: Manawatu Doctoral Research Symposium 2*, Massey University, Palmerston North, 27-34. <u>Available from the library</u>

- Ehrhardt, P., Little, G., Marsters, M., Nauer, G., Pentecost, M., Stockdale-Frost, A., & Wivell, J. (2013). *Report on the effectiveness of services delivered by DOVE Hawkes Bay Inc*. Napier, New Zealand: Eastern Institute of Technology. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Adams, P. (2012). Working with men who are violent to their partners: Strategies for early engagement. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 38*(3), 458-470. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.2012.00320.x
- Baker, G. (2010). *What makes respondent programmes effective*? Wellington, New Zealand: Catholic Social Services. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 BAK
- Dixon, G., & O'Connor, K. (2010). *Facilitating domestic violence programmes: Listening to voices from the field*. Wellington, New Zealand: Relationship Services Whakawhanaungatanga. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Metzger, N., & Woodley, A. (2010). *Report on giving, receiving and seeking help: The Campaign for Action on Family Violence*. Wellington, New Zealand: Campaign for Action on Family Violence. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Boshier, P., & Wademan, J. (2009). Are stopping violence programmes worthwhile? *New Zealand Family Law Journal*, 6(5), 119-125. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Hetherington, S. (2009). *Evaluation of a community based programme for male perpetrators of intimate partner violence*. (Unpublished master's thesis). Albany, New Zealand: Massey University. <u>Available from the library</u>
- McMaster, K., & Wells, A. (2003). *Innovative approaches to stopping family violence*. Wellington, New Zealand: Steele Roberts. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 INN
- O'Neill, D., & Morgan, M. (2001). Pragmatic post-structuralism (2): An outcomes evaluation of a stopping violence programme. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 11(4), 277-289. <u>Available from the library</u>
- O'Neill, D., & Morgan, M. (2001). Pragmatic post-structuralism (I): Participant observation and discourse in evaluating violence intervention. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 11, 263-275. Available from the library
- McMaster, K., Maxwell, G., & Anderson, T. (2000). *Evaluation of community based stopping violence prevention programmes: Research report*. Wellington, New Zealand: Department of Corrections. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 EVA
- Robertson, N. R. (1999). Stopping violence programmes: Enhancing the safety of battered women or producing better educated batterers? *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 28(2), 68-78. <u>Available from the library</u>
- O'Neill, D. (1997). Men against violence: A post-structuralist critique of the science and practice of stopping men's violence to women in an applied community setting (PhD thesis). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Massey University. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 MEN
- Lloyd-Pask, J., & McMaster, K. (1992). What changes as a result of participation in a stopping violence programme? Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Family Violence Co-ordinating Committee. Available from the library TRO 362.8292 WHA

Tangata whenua

Robertson, N. R., Masters, B., Lane, C., Tapara, A., Corbett, C., Graham, R., Gosche, J., Jenkins, A., & King, T. (2013). *Evaluation of the Whānau Ora Wellbeing Service of Te Whakaruruhau: Final report.* Hamilton, New Zealand: Māori and Psychology Research Unit, University of Waikato. <u>Available from the library</u>

Te Puni Kōkiri. (2010). *Arotake Tūkino Whānau: Literature review on family violence*. Wellington, New Zealand: Te Puni Kōkiri. <u>Available online from the library</u>

- Ruwhiu, L., Ashby, W., Erueti, H., Halliday, A., Horne, H., & Paikea, P. (2009). A mana tāne echo of hope: Dispelling the illusion of whānau violence Taitokerau Tāne Māori speak out. Whangarei, New Zealand: Amokura Family Violence Prevention Consortium. Available from the library TRO 362.8292 AMA
- Gregory, D. (2008). **He Waka Tapu: Working together for the wellbeing of family.** In R. Carnillo, & J.Tello (Eds.). *Family violence and men of color: Healing the wounded male spirit* (pp. 163-179). New York, NY: Springer. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 FAM
- Kruger, T., Pitman, M., Grennell, D., McDonald, T., Mariu, D., Pomare, A., ... & Lawson-Te Aho, K. (2004). *Transforming whānau violence – A conceptual framework: An updated version of the report from the former Second Māori Taskforce on Whānau Violence* (2nd ed.). Wellington, New Zealand: Te Puni Kōkiri. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 TRA

Pasifika

- Pacific Advisory Group. (2012). Nga Vaka o Kāiga Tapu: A Pacific Conceptual Framework to address family violence in New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Taskforce for Action on Violence Within Families. Available from the library
- Peteru, C. (2012). Falevitu: A literature review on culture and family violence in seven Pacific communities in New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Taskforce for Action on Violence Within Families. Available online from the library Please note the literature review does not specifically address working with perpetrators.

Ethnic minority communities

Ministry of Women's Affairs. (2010). *Speak up, seek help, safe home: A review of literature on culturally appropriate interventions for intimate partner violence in ethnic communities.* Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Women's Affairs. <u>Available from the library</u> *Includes a section 'Treatment for offenders'.*

International

Jackson, S. L. (2016). All elder abuse perpetrators are not alike: The heterogeneity of elder abuse perpetrators and implications for intervention. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*. 60(3), 265-285. doi: <u>10.1177/0306624X14554063</u>

McConnell, N., Barnard, M., Holdsworth, T. & Taylor, T. (2016). *Caring Dads Safer Children: Evaluation report.* London: NSPCC. <u>Available online</u>

- Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2016). Naming and defining 'domestic violence' lessons from research with violent men. *Feminist Review*, 112(1), 113-127. doi: <u>10.1057/fr.2015.52</u>
- Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2015). New approaches to assessing effectiveness and outcomes of domestic violence perpetrator programs. In H. Johnson, B. Fisher, & V. Jaquier (Eds.). *Critical issues on violence against women: International perspectives and promising strategies* (pp. 183-194). New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Donovan, C., & Griffiths, S. (2015). Domestic violence and voluntary perpetrator programmes: Engaging men in the pre-commencement phase. *British Journal of Social Work*, 45(4), 1155-1171. doi: <u>10.1093/bjsw/bct182</u>
- McGinn,T., Taylor, B., McColgan,M., & Lagdon, S. (2015). Survivor perspectives on IPV perpetrator interventions: A systematic narrative review. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, Advance online publication, 11 May 2015. doi: 10.1177/1524838015584358
- Scott, K., Heslop, L., Kelly, T., & Wiggins, K. (2015). Intervening to prevent repeat offending among moderate- to high-risk domestic violence offenders: A second-responder program for men. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 59(3), 273–294. doi: 10.1177/0306624X13513709
- Tollefson, D. R., & Phillips, I. (2015). A Mind-Body Bridging treatment program for domestic violence offenders: Program overview and evaluation results. *Journal of Family Violence*. 30(6), 783-794. doi: 10.1007/s10896-015-9715-9
- Addison, H. (2014). **The Dowse Cycle of Violence: group work exercise for men who have abused.** *Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal*, Spring 2014, 162-177. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Cantos, A. L., & O'Leary, K. D. (2014). One size does not fit all in treatment of intimate partner violence. *Partner Abuse*, 5(2), 204-236. <u>Read abstract</u>
- Corbs, M. (2014). Groups are only part of the story: Kildonan UnitingCare Family Violence Intervention Program. Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal, Spring 2014, 155-161. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Downes, J., Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2014). Ethics in violence and abuse research: A positive empowerment approach. *Sociological Research Online*, 19(1), 2-14. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Gray, R., Broady, T., Gaffney, I., Lewis, P., Mokany, T., & O'Neill, B. (2014). 'I'm working towards getting back together': Client accounts of motivation related to relationship status in men's behaviour change programmes in New South Wales. *Child Abuse Review*, Advance online publication, 10 July 2014. doi:10.1002/car.2318
- Macrae, R. (2014). The Caledonian system: an integrated approach to address men's domestic violence and improve the lives of women and children. *Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal*, Autumn 2014, 37-58. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Mandel, D. (2014). **Beyond domestic violence perpetrator accountability in child welfare systems**. *Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal*, Spring 2014, 50-85. <u>Available from the library</u>

- Mosby, E., & Thomson, G. (2014). Gatthar Weyebe Banabe program: seeking behaviour change in indigenous family violence. Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal, Spring 2014, 7-28. Available from the library
- Opitz, C. (2014). Considerations for partner contact during men's behaviour change programs: systemic responses and engagement .*Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal*, Autumn 2014, 114-140. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Vlais, R. (2014). Men's behaviour change programs: education, therapy, accountability 'or' struggle? Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal, Autumn 2014, 78-113. Available from the library
- Yee, G. (2014). Going deeper: Inviting male perpetrators of domestic violence into their inner worlds. Ending Men's Violence Against Women and Children: The No To Violence Journal, Spring 2014, 178-186. Available from the library
- Stewart, L. A., Flight, J., & Slavin-Stewart, C. (2013). Applying effective corrections principles (RNR) to partner abuse interventions. *Partner Abuse*, 4(4), 494-534. doi: <u>10.1891/1946-6560.4.4.494</u>
- Westmarland, N., & Kelly, L. (2013). Why extending measurements of 'success' in domestic violence perpetrator programmes matters for social work. *British Journal of Social Work*, 43(6), 1092-1110. doi: <u>10.1093/bjsw/bcs049</u>
- Alderson, S., Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2013). **Domestic violence perpetrator programmes and children and young people** (Project Mirabal briefing note, 3). London Metropolitan University & Durham University. <u>Available the library</u>
- Alderson, S., Westmarland, N., & Kelly, L. (2013). The need for accountability to, and support for, children of men on domestic violence perpetrator programmes. *Child Abuse Review*, 22(3), 182-193. doi: <u>10.1002/car.2223</u>
- Kraanen, F., Vedel, E., Scholing, A., & Emmelkamp, P. (2013). The comparative effectiveness of Integrated treatment for substance abuse and partner violence (I-StoP) and substance abuse treatment alone: A randomised controlled trial. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13: 189. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-189
- Lila, M., Oliver, A., Galiana, L., & Gracia, E. (2013). Predicting success indicators of an intervention programme for convicted intimate-partner violence offenders: The Contexto Programme. *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, 5(1), 73-95. <u>Available online</u>
- Bancroft, L., Silverman, J. G., & Ritchie, D. (2012). The batterer as parent: Addressing the impact of domestic violence on family dynamics (2nd.ed.). New York, NY: Sage. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 BAN
- Gondolf, E. W. (2012). *The future of batterer programs: Re-assessing evidence-based practice*. Boston, MA: Northeastern University Press. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 GON
- Levesque, D. A., Ciavatta, M. M., Castle, P. H., Prochaska, J. M., & Prochaska, J. O. (2012). Evaluation of a stage-based, computer-tailored adjunct to usual care for domestic violence offenders. *Psychology of Violence*, 2(4), 368-384. <u>Available online</u>
- McCracken, N., & Deave, T. (2012). *Evaluation of the Caring Dads Cymru Programme*. Methyr Tydfil, Wales: Social Research Division, Welsh Government. <u>Available online</u>

- Dempsey, B., & Day, A. (2011). The identification of implicit theories in domestic violence perpetrators. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 55(3), 416– 429. doi: 10.1177/0306624X10363448
- Barbor, S. J., & Wright, E. M. (2010). Predictors of completion in a batterer treatment program: The effects of referral source supervision. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*. 37(8), 847-859. doi: 10.1177/0093854810367771
- Carter, L. S. (2010). *Batterer intervention: Doing the work and measuring the progress: A report on the December 2009 experts roundtable:* San Francisco, CA: Family Violence Prevention Fund & National Institute of Justice. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Catlett, B. S., Toews, M. L., & Walilko, V. (2010). Men's gendered constructions of intimate partner violence as predictors of court-mandated batterer treatment drop out. *American Journal of Community Psychology*. 45(1-2), 107-23. doi: 10.1007/s10464-009-9292-2
- Donovan, C., Griffiths, S., & Groves, N. (2010). Making connections count: Evaluation of early intervention models for change in domestic violence: Northern Rock Foundation Domestic Abuse Intervention Project, 2004-2009. Newcastle-upon-Tyne, England: Northern Rock Foundation. <u>Available online</u>
- Itzin, C., Taket, A., & Barter-Godfrey, S. (2010). Domestic and sexual violence and abuse: Findings from a Delphi expert consultation on therapeutic and treatment interventions with victims, survivors and abusers, children, adolescents, and adults. Melbourne, Vic.: Deakin University. <u>Available online from the library</u> Perpetrator programmes discussed in section 4.3.
- Eckhardt, C., Holtzworth-Munroe, A., Norlande, B., Sibley, A., & Cahill, M. (2009). Readiness to change, partner violence subtypes, and treatment outcomes among men in treatment for partner assault. In C. M. Murphy & R. D. Maiuro (Eds.). *Motivational interviewing and stages of change in intimate partner violence* (pp. 89-131). New York, NY: Springer.
- Lehmann, P., & Simmons, C. (Eds.). (2009). *Strengths-based batterer intervention: A new paradigm in ending family violence.* New York, NY: Sage.
- MacLeod, D., Pi, R., Smith, D., & Rose-Goodwin, L. (2009). *Batterer intervention systems in California: An evaluation*. San Francisco, CA: Office of Court Research. <u>Available online</u>
- World Health Organization. (2009). *Changing cultural and social norms supportive of violent behaviour*. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Aldarondo, Z., & Fernandez, M. C. (2008). Intimate partner violence and recidivism following interventions with men who batter: Cultural and empirical considerations. In R. Carnillo, & J.Tello (Eds.). *Family violence and men of color: Healing the wounded male spirit* (pp. 1-35). New York, NY: Springer. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 FAM
- Douglas, U., Bathrick, D., & Perry, P. A. (2008). Deconstructing male violence against women: The men stopping violence community-accountability model. *Violence Against Women*, 14(2), 247-261. doi: <u>10.1177/1077801207312637</u>
- Dyson, S., & Flood, M. (2008). Building cultures of respect and non-violence: A review of literature concerning adult learning and violence prevention programs with men. Melbourne, Vic.: Australian Football League and Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth). Available from the library

- Saunders, D. G. (2008). Group interventions for men who batter: Summary and program descriptions and research. *Violence and Victims*, 23, 156-172. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.23.2.156
- Dabby, C., & Poore, G. (2007). Engendering change: Transforming gender roles in Asian and Pacific Islander communities. San Francisco, CA: Asian and Pacific Islander Institute on Domestic Violence. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Edleson, J. L., & Williams, O. J. (2007). *Parenting by men who batter: New directions for assessment*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. <u>Available from the library</u>. TRO 362.8292 PAR
- Hester, M., Westmarland, N., Gangoli, G., Wilkinson, M., O'Kelly, C., Kent, A. & Diamond, A. (2006).
 Domestic Violence perpetrators: Identifying needs to inform early intervention. Report of a project commissioned by the Northern Rock Foundation and the Home Office. Bristol, England: Bristol University. <u>Available online</u>
- Silvergleid, C. S., & Mankowski, E. S. (2006). How batterer intervention programs work: Participant and facilitator accounts of processes of change. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 21*(1), 139-159. doi: 10.1177/0886260505282103
- Pence, E. (2005). Batterer programs: Shifting from community collusion to community confrontation. In R. K. Bergen, J. L. Edleson, & C. M. Renzetti (Eds.). *Violence against women: classic papers* (pp.368 - 390). Boston, MA: Pearson Educational. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 VIO
- Berkowitz, A. (2004). *Working with men to prevent violence against women: An overview (Part One)*. Harrisburg, PA: VAWnet, a project of the National Resource Center on Domestic Violence. <u>Available online</u>
- Berkowitz, A. (2004, October). *Working with men to prevent violence against women: Program modalities and formats (Part Two)*. Harrisburg, PA: VAWnet, a project of the National Resource Center on Domestic Violence. <u>Available online</u>
- Holtzworth-Munroe, A., & Meehan, J. C. (2004). Typologies of men who are maritally violent: Scientific and clinical implications. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19, 1369-1389. doi: 10.1177/0886260504269693
- Rothman, E. F., Butchart, A., & Cerda, M. (2003). *Intervening with perpetrators of intimate partner violence: A global perspective*. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO. Retrieved from http://www.who.int <u>Available online from the library</u>
- Strategic Partners. (2003). *Domestic violence: Working with men: Phase 1 meta-evaluation report*. Barton, ACT: Office of the Status of Women. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Gondolf, E. W. (2002). *Batterer intervention systems*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. <u>Available from the</u> <u>library</u> TRO 362.8292 BAT
- Daly, J. E., Power, T. G., & Gondolf, E. W. (2001). Predictors of batterer program attendance. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 16, 971-991. doi <u>10.1177/088626001016010001</u>
- Dobash, R. E., Dobash, R. P., Cavanagh, K., & Lewis, R. (2000). *Changing violent men*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 CHA

- Heckett, D. A., & Gondolf, E. W. (2000). The effect of perceptions of sanctions on batterer program outcomes. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 37, 369-391 doi: <u>10.1177/0022427800037004002</u>
- Keys Young. (1999). *Ending domestic violence? Programs for perpetrators: Full report*. Barton, ACT: National Crime Prevention. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Shepard, M. F., & Pence, E. (1999). Coordinating community responses to domestic violence: Lessons from Duluth and beyond. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 COO
- Burton, S., Regan, L., & Kelly, L. (1998). Supporting women and challenging men: Lessons from the Domestic Violence Intervention Project. Bristol, England: Policy Press. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 SUP

Pence, E., & Paymar, M. (1993). *Education groups for men who batter: The Duluth model*. New York, NY: Springer. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292 EDU

Resources

- *Stories of change: Moving beyond violence*. (2014). Auckland, New Zealand: The Glenn Inquiry. <u>Available from the library</u>
- Wivell, J., & Pentecost, M. (2014). "It doesn't have to continue": A collection of stories about transforming family violence (an educational resource). Napier, New Zealand: Eastern Institute of Technology. Available from the library
- Jenkins, A. (2009). **Becoming ethical: A parallel, political journey with men who have abused**. Lyme Regis, England: Russell House Publishing. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 616.85822 JEN
- Joseph, J.J. (2008). *Fighting for my life: The confession of a violent offender*. Auckland, New Zealand: Exisle. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.8292092 JOS
- Iles, C. (1996). Out of control: Stories of men who are leaving violence and partner abuse behind. Wellington, New Zealand: Pacific Education Resources Trust. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 362.82 OUT
- Paymar, M. (2000). *Violent no more: Helping men end domestic abuse*. Alameda, CA: Hunter House. <u>Available from the library</u> TRO 616.85 VIO

Standards, manuals and policy documents

Australia

- COAG. (2015). *National Outcome Standards for Perpetrator Interventions*. Council of Australian Governments. <u>Available from the library</u>
- NSW Department of Attorney General and Justice. (2012). *Towards safe families: A practical guide for men's domestic violence behaviour change programs. Minimum standards for men's domestic violence behaviour change programs*. Sydney, NSW: NSW Department of Attorney General and Justice. <u>Available online Background information</u>

No to Violence. (2006). *Men's behaviour change group work: Resources for quality practice*. Melbourne, VIC: No To Violence. <u>Available online</u>

No To Violence. (2006). *Men's behaviour change group work: Minimum standards and quality practice*. Melbourne, VIC: No To Violence. <u>Available online</u>

Websites

New Zealand Te Kupenga Whakaoti Mahi Patunga | National Network of Stopping Violence www.nnsvs.org.nz

It's Not OK Campaign www.areyouok.org.nz

International Ending Violence endingviolence.com

No To Violence: Male Family Violence Association (Australia) <u>www.ntv.org.au</u>

Project Mirabal <u>www.dur.ac.uk/criva/projectmirabal</u> and <u>http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/faculties/faculty-of-social-sciences-and-humanities/research/child-and-woman-abuse-studies-unit/projects/project-mirabal/</u>

Respect www.respect.uk.net

Work with Perpetrators European Network www.work-with-perpetrators.eu

Contact Information

New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Auckland New Zealand Tel: 09 923 4640 Email: <u>info@nzfvc.org.nz</u> Website: <u>https://nzfvc.org.nz</u>